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Introduction:


Remembering the French Resistance





On 16 May 2007, the day of his inauguration as French president, Nicolas Sarkozy made a pilgrimage to the Bois de Boulogne on the outskirts of Paris to pay homage to thirty-five resisters executed by the Germans during the final momentous days of the liberation of Paris in August 1944. ‘The resisters were young. They died. But what they embodied was invincible. They said “no”. “No” to subjection, “no” to dishonour, “no” to what belittles human beings, and this “no” continues to be heard after their deaths because it is the eternal cry of human freedom against enslavement. It is the cry that we still hear today.’1


In his speech, Sarkozy proclaimed that those who died for France were not simply patriots who gave their lives to liberate their country. They were martyrs of humanity who died for the universal and eternal values of freedom and dignity. He was keen, moreover, that this message should be transmitted to all young French people, who were invited in numbers to the commemoration. One high-school student read the last letter to his parents of Guy Môquet, a seventeen-year-old resister executed by the Germans in 1941. Sarkozy pledged that this letter would be read out every year in all French schools. Guy Môquet had been a communist. His father was a communist deputy who had been imprisoned and the twenty-six men with whom Guy was shot were also communists. But the Cold War had been won, the French Communist Party was a shadow of its old self, and the moral that could be drawn from the young man’s death was again a universal one that ‘the greatness of man is to dedicate himself to a cause that is greater than himself’.


The story of the French Resistance is central to French identity. The country was defeated in 1940, overwhelmed by a German Blitzkrieg that lasted a mere six weeks. The northern half of France was occupied immediately, the southern half in November 1942, in response to the Allied landings in North Africa. Power was assumed by Marshal Pétain, the hero of Verdun, who promptly abolished the French Republic and set up an authoritarian regime with its capital in the spa town of Vichy in central France. The French divided between those who collaborated with the Germans, those who resisted them, and those in the middle who resigned themselves to the situation and ‘muddled through’. The Vichy regime succumbed to pressure from the Germans to deport 75,000 Jews living in France – 24,000 of them French and 51,000 of them of foreign origin – to the death camps. The French waited four years for the Allies to return to French soil to help them drive out the Germans. Paris was liberated in August 1944 and the Germans were finally pushed out of the country. French troops drove into Germany and set about recovering lost colonial territories in the Near East and Indochina and with that some of their former national greatness.


To deal with the trauma of defeat, occupation and virtual civil war, the French developed a central myth of the French Resistance. This was not a fiction about something that never happened, but rather a story that served the purposes of France as it emerged from the war. It was a founding myth that allowed the French to reinvent themselves and hold their heads high in the post-war period. There were several elements to this narrative. First, that there was a continuous thread of resistance, beginning on 18 June 1940, when an isolated de Gaulle in London issued his order to resist via the BBC airwaves, and reaching its climax on 26 August 1944, when he marched down the Champs-Élysées, acclaimed by the French people. Second, that while a ‘handful of wretches’ had collaborated with the enemy, a minority of active resisters had been supported in their endeavours by the vast majority of the French people. A third element was that, although the French were indebted to the Allies and some foreign resisters for their military assistance, the French had liberated themselves and restored national honour, confidence and unity.


This myth was orchestrated very effectively right from the very moment of liberation. After Charles de Gaulle was welcomed at the Hôtel de Ville in Paris on 25 August 1944, he addressed the crowd in the streets outside. His words, frequently quoted, may be seen as a first bid to define a myth of resistance and liberation, even before the liberation of France was complete:




Paris liberated! Liberated by its own efforts, liberated by its people with the help of the armies of France, with the help of all of France, that is France in combat. The one France, the true France, eternal France.2





The narrative was elaborated in a series of ceremonies after France finished the war and took the surrender of the Germans in Berlin as one of the Allied powers. At a parade held in Paris on 18 June 1945, the fifth anniversary of de Gaulle’s appeal, the Free French forces who had continued the armed fight eclipsed the forces of the internal French Resistance both in number and style. Tanks rolled past, representing the arm in which de Gaulle had himself fought, and a flypast drew his symbol, a Cross of Lorraine, in the sky.3 De Gaulle’s resistance myth was military, national and male. It was sanctified by a new chivalric order, the Compagnons de la Libération, founded in November 1940. Numbering only 1,038, they were handpicked for their deeds of valour during the epic of liberation; 81 per cent were serving officers, only 5 per cent were foreigners and a mere 0.6 per cent were women.4 The national dimension of the Resistance narrative was imposed by marginalising any idea that it might be seen as an international struggle against fascism and Nazism that was fought in part on French soil by resisters who might be Spanish republicans or Polish Jews. On 11 November 1944, in the company of Winston Churchill, de Gaulle laid a wreath at the statue of First World War premier Clemenceau at the bottom of the Champs-Élysées, and announced the Resistance as only an episode in a Thirty Years War fought with Germany between 1914 and 1944.


Such a myth, powerful though it was, never exercised complete hegemony over the minds of French people. Communists, who played a leading role in resistance combats and emerged as the largest political party after the war, were happy to subscribe to the dominant narrative so long as they enjoyed power, but when the Cold War came in 1947 and they were ejected from the government, they insisted on their own separate story.5 The Communist Party (PCF) defined itself as the party of the 75,000 fusillés, their estimate of the number of communist victims shot by the Germans. This was undoubtedly an overestimate but the Communist Party highlighted one dramatic case of martyrdom: the twenty-seven communist hostages – including Guy Môquet – who were shot at Châteaubriant in October 1941 in reprisal for the assassination of the Feldkommandant of Nantes by a communist hit squad. A monument of five muscular men tied to a stake and plainly singing the ‘Marseillaise’ or ‘Internationale’ was unveiled in October 1950 in the clearing where they had died. Rivalry for the ownership of this memory was symbolised by the fact that the city of Nantes raised its own monument (in October 1952) to the sixteen non-communist hostages shot in Nantes, as well as to the communists executed at Châteaubriant. The mayor of Nantes praised the role of the Vichy authorities who had intervened with the Germans to prevent a second round of executions threatened by the Germans and the good people of Nantes who had endured the reprisals with dignity. This ceremony was pointedly boycotted by the communists, who held their own separate vigil and demonstrated how sharply divided memories of resistance could be.6


What might be called the Gaullist myth of resistance suffered the setback of being divided against itself during the Algerian War of 1954–62. North Africa had been the military and political platform from which France had been liberated but the war fought to retain Algeria ten years later used brutal methods, including the torture of insurgents. The camp of former resisters split between those who equated liberation with the restoration of national greatness and those who were troubled by the ‘Nazi’ methods used by the French military against Algerian rebels. In order to restore unity to the Resistance camp, the cult of Jean Moulin – who had briefly united the competing factions of the French Resistance under the direction of de Gaulle in London and who had died a martyr – was duly promoted. In December 1964, in advance of the first presidential elections under universal suffrage since 1848, in which de Gaulle hoped to triumph, the remains of Jean Moulin were solemnly transferred to the France’s hall of heroes, the Panthéon. This was the apogee of the unifying Gaullist myth and de Gaulle was duly re-elected to the presidency the following year. However, the legacy of the Algerian War divided Algerian immigrants and French settlers repatriated after Algerian independence in 1962 and nurtured the extreme-right-wing populism of the Front National in post-colonial France.


De Gaulle’s fall from power in 1969 and his death soon after weakened the carapace of the central myth of French Resistance and allowed other stories to come to the surface. The commonplace assertion that only a few French people had disgraced themselves by collaborating with the Germans while the overwhelming majority of French people had supported the Resistance was called into question by Marcel Ophüls’ 1969 film, Le Chagrin et la Pitié, subtitled, ‘Chronicle of a French city under the Occupation’. The film suggested that the French had not been heroes but rather time-servers and cowards if not traitors.7 One of the leading resisters interviewed, Emmanuel d’Astier de la Vigerie, declared, ‘I think you could only have joined the resistance if you were maladjusted.’8 Because it undermined the official resistance story, Le Chagrin was banned from TV screens for ten years. Meanwhile President Pompidou, who had succeeded de Gaulle in 1969, held out an olive branch to former collaborators by pardoning Paul Touvier, the head of the Militia in Lyon who had waged war on resisters and Jews and had spent years after the war in hiding. Pompidou had not taken part in resistance himself and had a negative view of its achievements. ‘Is it not time,’ he asked at a press conference in 1972, ‘to throw a veil, to forget that period when French people hated each other, tore each other apart, killed each other?’9


Another narrative of resistance under occupation now captured public attention. It claimed a leading role in the French Resistance for foreign anti-fascists and in particular foreign Jews. The French had liberated themselves but not without the help of foreign resisters, whose contribution had initially been glossed over. It was brought back to light by two films that highlighted the tragedy of a group of twenty-three resisters under the Armenian Missak Manouchian, who were executed at Mont Valérien fort on 21 February 1944. Frank Cassenti’s L’Affiche rouge of 1976, titled after the German poster that seized the opportunity to demonise resisters as foreigners and Jews, was followed by Serge Mosco’s 1985 Terroristes à la Retraite. Unfortunately, this latter film had to compete with another, Claude Lanzmann’s Shoah, also released in 1985, which concentrated on Jews as victims of extermination rather than as violent resisters. This shaped a powerful new paradigm that increasingly saw the Second World War not through the lens of resistance but through that of the Holocaust. It was reinforced in 1987 when former Gestapo chief, Klaus Barbie, was brought back from hiding in Bolivia to the Assize Court of Lyon and tried for his part in the deportation of Jews from France to the death camps. In particular he was indicted for the deportation of forty-four Jewish children from a home at Izieu, near Lyon, to Auschwitz on 6 April 1944. Barbie, who was known in resistance circles as the man who had tortured Jean Moulin to death, was not on trial for this crime. Instead, the victims of the Holocaust in France were heard giving testimony against their accusers and prioritising the story of the massacre of innocents. Sabine Zlatin, who had cared for the children of Izieu, exclaimed:




Barbie always said that he was only concerned with resisters and maquisards, that is, the enemies of the German Army. I am asking: what were the children, the forty-four children? Resisters? Maquisards? What were they? They were innocents. For this terrible crime of Izieu there can be neither forgiveness nor forgetting.10





Not only were the resisters upstaged, but they were also put metaphorically in the dock themselves.


Barbie’s defence counsel, the enigmatic Jacques Vergès, floated the rumour that Jean Moulin had been betrayed to the Gestapo by none other than Raymond Aubrac, hitherto considered (with his wife Lucie) as a giant of the French Resistance. The honour of the Resistance was impugned and had to be defended. Jacques Chaban-Delmas, who had been one of Jean Moulin’s successors linking de Gaulle and the Resistance in France and who became prime minister under Pompidou, stepped up: ‘If there were traitors in the resistance,’ he asserted, ‘these were not of the resistance but collaborators who infiltrated it very cleverly, but had nothing to do with us.’ Facing down attempts to blacken the Resistance as a whole by tarnishing some of its leaders, Chaban addressed the new generation: ‘Young people must know that French people behaved honourably and they do not have to blush about France or about the conduct of their fellow citizens under the Occupation.’ The resistance, he continued, capturing the emerging discourse that centred on the rights of man, had begun as a campaign to drive the German invaders out of France but in time became something far more universal, a war against Nazism, which was ‘a curse, contempt for the human being’.11


Barbie was condemned for crimes against humanity and sentenced to life imprisonment but the deportation of 75,000 Jews from France could not be blamed only on the Germans. The role of the French state that had collaborated with the Third Reich was also questioned. Pressure built up for the state to acknowledge its part in the Holocaust. President Mitterrand refused, claiming that the crime was that of Vichy, not that of the Republic, but in 1995 his successor, Jacques Chirac, solemnly recognised the role of the French state in the round-up of Jews that led to their deportation. He used a discourse of human rights to condemn the actions of the French state and to offer an apology: ‘France, country of the Enlightenment and the rights of man, land of welcome and asylum, on that day accomplished the irreparable.’ In the same speech, however, he cited the statistic provided by Serge Klarsfeld, who had brought Barbie back for trial and acted as counsel for the prosecution, that three-quarters of Jews in France had not been deported. The conclusion to be drawn was that the same values that had been betrayed by the French state had lived on in the hearts and minds of ordinary French people and inspired compassion and generosity towards persecuted Jews. Chirac therefore praised the ‘humanistic values, the values of liberty, justice and tolerance that constitute French identity and bind us for the future’.12


The story of a minority of armed resisters, supported by the mass of the population, was now replaced by that of a mass of generous souls, supporting a minority of rescuers, who had found safe hiding places or escape routes for Jews persecuted during the German occupation. These Gentile rescuers had been honoured as the Righteous Among Nations in a limited way by Yad Vashem, the Jerusalem body founded in 1953 to document and commemorate the Holocaust. In Paris, over fifty years later in 2005, a Memorial to the Shoah was opened in the former Jewish quarter of the Marais. Inside the edifice the names of all the Jews who had been deported from France were inscribed on a Wall of Names. Outside, a Wall of the Righteous, with the names of all the French Righteous among Nations, was unveiled in 2006. On 18 January 2007 Jacques Chirac and Auschwitz survivor and stateswoman Simone Veil presided over a brightly lit ceremony in the Panthéon to celebrate the Righteous of France. Chirac rehearsed a language of reason and rights cloaked in moral righteousness. True to ‘France, that country of enlightenment and human rights,’ he said, ‘very many French men and women demonstrated that humanistic values were enshrined in their souls.’13 This ceremony consecrated a new image of what resistance meant. It was no longer the military and patriotic struggle intended to drive the Germans out of France but the unarmed work of rescue to save a persecuted minority from the clutches of the Nazis that duly allowed France to reclaim its identity as the country of liberty and the rights of man.


Myths are narratives developed to define the identity and aspirations of groups or countries and need no factual basis in the historical record.14 Historians, however, are bound by the record of written, oral and visual sources from the past, duly scrutinised and tested for veracity. Just as de Gaulle was elaborating a myth of resistance from the moment of liberation, so former resisters and historians mobilised the services of the state both to preserve and to build a historical record of France’s experience of the Second World War. As early as October 1944 a Commission on the History of the Occupation and Liberation of France (CHOLF) was set up under the Education Ministry in order to gather wartime documents from a wide range of other ministries. Its general secretaries were the medieval historian Édouard Perroy and Henri Michel, formerly history teacher at the Lycée of Toulon and socialist resister in Provence. Another body, the Committee on the History of War (CHG), was founded in June 1945, immediately after the end of the war in Europe. Chaired by the historian Lucien Febvre, with Henri Michel again as general secretary, it was directly answerable to de Gaulle and designed to have more leverage with ministries to secure the release of documents. It was soon realised, however, that these two bodies had overlapping functions and personnel, and in 1951 they were amalgamated as the Committee for History of the Second World War (CHDGM).15


The first target of these committees was documents held by the various government ministries. However, some ministries were reluctant to hand documents over to the National Archives, at least in the short- or medium-term. Once in the Archives, documents were still subject to a fifty-year rule of confidentiality before they could be consulted. The written archives containing official documents relating to the Occupation, Vichy and the Resistance remained virtually closed until a law of 1979 facilitated access, although even then access to many files was only accorded with special permission or dérogation from the Ministry of Culture. Other sources therefore had to be exploited. For nearly forty years the history of the Resistance was written from the oral testimony and memoirs of former resisters while the archives remained unexplored.


One of the key functions of the Committee for History of the Second World War was to build up an archive of interviews with former resisters from which later histories might be written.16 The methodology was far from the oral history practices of today. Interviewers and interviewees belonged to the same milieu, so that the process of ‘snowballing’ from one resister to another led to interviews with more of the same: educated people, mostly men, who had belonged to the Free French or to the mainstream non-communist metropolitan networks and movements. In the climate of the Cold War virtually no communists were interviewed, and even fewer resisters of foreign origin. The interviews were not recorded and it is not clear whether they were taken down in shorthand. Typescripts of the interviews were not set out verbatim, as question and answer, but as summaries of the conversation. There was little appreciation that witnesses might be telling their story, which might be different from the story of the Resistance. Henri Michel thought rather that by cross-referencing a mass of partial stories it would be possible to extract from them ‘the sap of truth they contain’. Material from these interviews, suitably anonymised, and other documentation, such as the Resistance press, provided the basis of the first histories of the Resistance by former historians turned resisters or former resisters turned historians. Henri Michel published the first textbook account of the Resistance in 1950 and other volumes on the ideas of the Resistance in 1954 and 1962.17 Marie Granet, one of the lead interviewers of the CHDGM, brought out a series on individual resistance networks.18 Working at a distance from this ‘official history’, two former resisters, Henri Noguères (who had belonged to Franc-Tireur in Languedoc) and former communist Marcel Degliame (who had worked with Combat), wrote a ten-volume history of the Resistance between 1967 and 1982. They regretted that the archives were closed for fifty years but could not wait and had relied on 170 written or oral testimonies. Had they not, they said pointedly, ‘it would have meant giving up on the option that this history might be not only written and discussed but also controlled by those who lived it’.19 The assumption was that an élite of resisters themselves would write their own history. Meanwhile in 1975–6 Jean-Louis Crémieux-Brilhac, who had worked with the Free French in London, edited the messages that had gone out to France from the BBC in London, inaugurating a brilliant career as the most authoritative resister-historian of his generation.20


The memoirs of former resisters were the other initial source for a valid history. In the early years there were few accounts of ordinary resisters. One was that of Agnès Humbert, who had been involved in the Musée de l’Homme resistance network and had been deported to do forced labour in Germany.21 More usual were those of high-profile or self-promoting resisters22 and the great military and political leaders who were anxious to be first on the scene to establish their story for posterity.23 A second wave of memoirs appeared after 1968 and, particularly after the death of de Gaulle and the decline of the Communist Party, wider space was opened up for a variety of former resisters to tell their own account.24 For a long time the testimony of former resisters who had been close to the centre of decision-making insiders wielded great authority. Confidence in their gospel, however, was shaken in 1973 by the publication of the memoirs of Henri Frenay, the leader of Combat.25 Still fighting his wartime battles, he accused his rival Jean Moulin, who had now acquired the aura of a resistance hero and martyr, of being a communist agent. He repeated the accusation with another book in 1977 that provoked a media controversy.26 To defend Moulin’s reputation, Moulin’s former radio-operator, Daniel Cordier, decided that the only way to rebuff these accusations was to analyse the whole available archival record. His mission coincided with a professionalisation of the history of the Second World War, symbolised by the passing of the torch from Henri Michel’s Committee for History of the Second World War to the Institute for the History of the Present Time (IHTP), founded in 1978 under François Bédarida. Born in 1926, Bédarida was a schoolboy member of the Resistance but above all a scholar who saw it as his mission to historicise studies of the Second World War. Bédarida and Cordier thus joined forces to challenge the trustworthiness of testimony, either written or oral, in the name of the primacy of written archival sources. Cordier’s four-volume history of Jean Moulin, published between 1989 and 1999, both made the case for an archival history of the Resistance and made Moulin the centrepiece of that history.27


This cult of the archives stimulated research by a new generation of agrégés and doctoral students born in the 1950s and 1960s, who now turned to the Resistance as a legitimate historical subject. Those based in the provinces researched histories of the Resistance in their area, in the Franche-Comté, Provence or Brittany.28 Those based at the Sorbonne and Sciences-Po in Paris wrote and published theses on the main non-communist resistance organisations: Laurent Douzou on Libération-Sud, Alya Aglan on Libération-Nord and Olivier Wieviorka on Défense de la France.29 Guillaume Piketty wrote a thesis on Pierre Brossolette, Jean Moulin’s intermediary between London and France, and together these publications concentrated on the ‘royal road’ of metropolitan resistance.30 A 1996 thesis written on the Front National, through which the Communist Party built bridges between communist and non-communist organisations, was not published.31 Around the time of the 40th anniversary of the Liberation these historians also used the conference as a scholarly tool to share the most-up-to-date research and research methods.32 They also embarked on a Dictionary of the French Resistance that was, in 2006, the state of the art of current thinking about the Resistance.33


Many of this new generation of researchers interviewed former members of resistance organisations and Piketty used interviews undertaken by Brossolette’s widow in the 1970s.34 Their supervisors nevertheless maintained an undisguised scepticism about the validity of oral testimony and the interview was used primarily to complement the archival record. At an IHTP round table on oral history in 1986 Daniel Cordier admitted that the interview had the ‘aesthetic benefit of freshness’ and could recreate ‘atmosphere’ but when it came to detail it was useless. ‘Chronology is extremely vague because the witness is naturally unable to situate his past in time. When a witness says to you, “It took place on 21 June in Avignon”, it might be the 15 August 1943 or the 10 September 1942.’ François Bédarida, director of the IHTP, concluded a round table in 1986 by declaring that ‘the Resistance, which hitherto had been seen as the chosen territory of oral history now appears as the site of the triumph of written history.’35


Outside the academy there was a greater faith in oral and written testimony and a greater interest in recording the testimony of resisters who had not taken the ‘royal road’, notably Jews, communists and foreigners. Around 1968 Anny Latour undertook a series of interviews, both in France and Israel, with Jewish resisters for a book she was writing on the Jewish resistance, that were preserved at the Centre de Documentation Juive Contemporaine (CDJC), now part of the Mémorial de la Shoah.36 The Musée de la Résistance Nationale at Champigny-sur-Marne, which opened in 1985, had a communist and labour affiliation. It collected the written testimonies of resisters from communist backgrounds, often of immigrant origin. It also archived the original returns to a call in 1984 from the communist daily L’Humanité for testimonies from ‘the unknown of the Resistance’, a wide repertoire of resistance gestures and memories sent in by ordinary people.37 Finally, the Centre d’Histoire de la Résistance et de la Déportation in Lyon, which opened in 1992, began a programme of video-recording interviews with former resisters. These included mainstream resisters but prioritised interviews with foreign resisters, often of Jewish origin, and women.


The vogue for autobiographical accounts enjoyed a new wave with the publication in 2004 of Irène Nemirowsky’s posthumous Suite française, a fictionalised account of families fleeing Paris in 1940 and living cheek-by-jowl with the Germans in occupied France.38 Interest was revived in what could be gained from memoirs, journals, diaries, letters, and oral testimony. The memoirs of Agnès Humbert, originally published in 1946, were republished in French in 2004 and English in 2008.39 The diary and memoir of the American Virginia d’Albert Lake, who was involved in an escape line for downed airmen, came out in 2006.40 Academic historians returned to subjective accounts with new confidence. Laurent Douzou acclaimed a new genre of writing by the children of resisters, notably their voyage into the hidden past of their parents.41 Some of these introduced readers to resisters who were not French by birth. After his mother’s death in 1994, the scientist Georges Waysand wrote Estoucha, an account of her resistance activity. Esther Zilberberg, known as Estoucha, was a Polish-Jewish communist medical student who migrated to Belgium in the 1930s, served as a nurse with the International Brigades in Spain and the communist resistance in northern France, giving birth to Georges in 1941 before her husband was executed by the Germans and she was deported to Ravensbrück.42 Claude Lévy, also of Polish-Jewish origin, had written his own account of foreigners in the French Resistance in 1970.43 In 2007 his son Marc assumed his father’s voice and role in Les Enfants de la liberté, exploring his father’s experience with Jewish and Italian resisters in Toulouse and trauma of the ‘ghost train’ that deported him and his younger brother in July–August 1944.44 In 2009 Guillaume Piketty published a superb collection of first-person writings by resisters, from the diaries of Free French soldiers to the letters of Claire Girard, a resister shot by the Germans in 1944.45 Two years later François Marcot co-edited a collection on writing under the Occupation that privileged diaries as a source.46 Ironically, Daniel Cordier, who had led such a vigorous campaign against the validity of testimony, published his own memoirs, Alias Caracalla, in 2009. ‘If a diary is by nature limited,’ he conceded, ‘it is nevertheless incomparable: it is a snapshot of the past that brings to life lost passions.’47


This study of the Resistance is squarely based on testimony, both written and oral. It takes the view that only first-person accounts can lay bare individual subjectivity, the experience of resistance activity, and the meaning that resisters later gave to their actions. Testimony is taken from the widest possible range of sources in order to underline the breadth and diversity of those who became involved in resistance inside and outside France, most of them French but many of them foreign. The first six chapters of the book explore why a small minority of individuals opted for resistance under the impact of defeat and armistice in 1940. While most French people were relieved that the war was over, trusted Marshal Pétain to defend their interests and cohabited more or less peacefully with German occupying forces, a few said no. They came from all parts of society, from the extreme left to the extreme right, educated and uneducated, French soldiers who left defeated France for England or were undefeated in the colonies. Were they oddballs and eccentrics or idealists who had undergone a political apprenticeship and were moved by principles? Were they in some way conditioned by their families and background, or did contingency and chance play a part? The story then investigates ways in which resisters came together in small groups, isolated from the conformist mass of the population, to think about what could be done to resist. All resisters were confronted by the challenge of breaking the law and of putting their own lives and those of others at risk. All were bound by intense bonds of comradeship, fraternity and solidarity – even love. Since resistance was originally conceived as refusing defeat and continuing the fight, women were not immediately in the front line, but the failure of men to defend the country in 1940 and the fact that 1.5 million of them were prisoners of war meant that much responsibility devolved onto women. Women navigated between gendered expectations of their roles and the opportunities that appeared for extraordinary achievements. We look at how resisters constructed their underground world and invented new identities and new roles for themselves. This had something theatrical about it but risked discovery, arrest and death. Invention gave resisters the opportunity to pretend what they were not, but also gave the opportunity to informers to pretend that they were resisters. Comradeship and trust among resisters was too often compromised by deceit and betrayal. From time to time resisters emerged from the world of shadow into the light, in order to publicise their message and their activities, and sometimes this moment of transition was the most dangerous of all.


Resisters were always a minority but emerged from a rainbow of different milieux. They had very different views and were fighting for different aims. Some were simply patriots who disagreed with the Vichy regime about what patriotism meant. Their profile might be very like supporters of the Vichy regime, except in their opposition to collaboration with Germany. Some saw themselves as fighting an anti-fascist war that had started with volunteering to resist Franco’s crusade against republican Spain that was supported by Fascist Italy and Nazi Germany. After the defeat of the Spanish Republic in 1939 many retreated to continue the struggle on French soil. This was a struggle that was also fought in the Low Countries, Central Europe, the Balkans and behind German lines on the Eastern Front. Men and women of Jewish origin were an important part of the Resistance in France, fighting the war against Germany but also a ‘war within the war’ against both the Germans and Vichy to prevent their own extermination. They were often young Jews who had lost their parents or other family members in the round-ups and deportations and joined resistance groups as the best way to survive. Some were French Jews for whom the liberation of a tolerant France was the main goal, but others were Polish or Romanian Jews who dreamed of founding socialist republics in the countries from which they were exiled, or else of leaving old Europe to found a new homeland in Palestine, which was then a British mandate.


The Gaullist narrative of a straight line of resistance between 1940 and 1944 and of a France that liberated herself, albeit with some help from the Allies, comes under some scrutiny. The armistice of 1940 left the French Empire intact and the few who joined de Gaulle’s Free French battled for control of that Empire in Africa and Syria-Lebanon with the armies of Vichy which, collaborating with the Axis powers, opposed them at every step. De Gaulle in London enjoyed the support of Churchill but was an isolated figure, even among the French in exile. The Americans had an almost visceral dislike of him, and kept an ambassador in Vichy with the main aim of ensuring that Marshal Pétain did not enter the war on the German side. When the Americans landed in North Africa in November 1942 they did a deal with Vichy’s Admiral Darlan and then, when he was assassinated, backed de Gaulle’s arch-rival, General Giraud. De Gaulle also had great difficulty establishing durable connections with resistance movements that were emerging in metropolitan France. The communist resistance movements escaped him entirely and even the non-communist ones jealously guarded their own autonomy. Eventually, in 1943, de Gaulle’s envoy Jean Moulin brought together the threads of the metropolitan resistance movements under the General’s authority, and at the same time de Gaulle established himself in North Africa alongside Giraud. Unfortunately, however, Jean Moulin was arrested by the Germans in June 1943 and tortured to death. Links were broken with the internal resistance movements, which at the same time became increasingly popular as the German demand for forced labour for factories in the Reich provoked strike activity and drove many young men into hiding and some into the maquis of forest and mountain. Some came under the control of well-organised communists who had a strategy of immediate action and national insurrection; others were provided with weapons by Allied agents (who were parachuted in) but were encouraged to delay any offensive action until after D-Day.


The D-Day landings provoked an explosion of resistance activity as fighters came out of the shadows to attack Germans in the rear. This initially had disastrous consequences as resisters had huge optimism and energy but very little training, strategy or leadership. Conflict broke out between the two models of resistance: the communist desire for national insurrection, in which participated the full rainbow of foreign resisters, and which would usher in popular government and far-reaching reform, and a well-timed seizure of power as German sources retreated, to enable de Gaulle to reassert the authority of the French state and stifle any chance of popular revolution. The Gaullist account reaches its climax here, with the General marching down the Champs-Élysées to the applause of the crowd before France returned to business as usual. But for those who had resisted, life did not simply end here and their testimonies trace their hopes and fears, triumphs and disappointments after the Liberation. Many resisters joined the French armies that continued the advance on Germany, and some of them did not return. A minority went on to take part in founding the Fourth Republic, but this was generally at the expense of the aspirations of resistance movements. Others returned from deportation camps to rebuild their shattered lives, or dedicated themselves to putting back together the shattered lives of those around them.


The book ends with the battle for the soul of the Resistance, which over the following decades set individuals and groups against each other, as they fought to impose their own collective memory as the dominant narrative of the French Resistance as a whole. Immediately after the Liberation the Gaullist gospel, military, patriotic and essentially masculine, became supreme. This was contested by a communist memory under siege during the Cold War and controlled by a Stalinism that purged the memory of dissident communists who had been at the forefront of resistance. The Holocaust memory that became the main lens through which the Second World War was seen from the 1990s ironically marginalised the memory of a Jewish resistance that was beginning to emerge. The dominant narrative of resistance today is a humanitarian and universal myth of the struggle for the rights of man, which allows a greater role for women and rescuers of Jews, and a lesser role for freedom fighters with Sten guns. The memories of resisters of dissident communist, foreign and Jewish origin survived as group memories but not as dominant narratives. One of the aims of this study is to bring these back into the mainstream.
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Awakenings







The sight of the débâcle revived an old nationalist reflex, deep humiliation and fury at the idea that those people were at home in our homes. And at the same time a very deep anti-fascism, a hatred of all that.


(Jean-Pierre Vernant, 1985)





Madeleine Riffaud was not yet sixteen when the German armies, triumphant after Dunkirk, burst into northern France on 5 June 1940. Her family fled south, pêle-mêle with tens of thousands of other terrified civilians and punch-drunk soldiers, their possessions loaded onto cars, carts and horses.1 Her parents, who were both schoolteachers in the Somme, had the additional burden of a grandfather who was dying of cancer. Some weeks later, with France defeated, they made their way slowly back home to what was now German-occupied France. At the bombed-out station of Amiens, Madeleine went in search of a stretcher from the Red Cross to carry her grandfather on the last leg of the journey. Attractive in her ‘little summer frock, and long hair down’, she was molested by a group of German soldiers. An officer called them to order but at the same time, she recalls, ‘he gave me a huge kick in the bottom which sent me flying. I was so furious, it was humiliation, anger, and in my anger I vowed to myself that I would find the Resistance. I will find those who are resisting. It all started from there.’2


The humiliation of defeat was suffered by the whole French nation, from its leaders to ordinary people. It was an unexpected defeat, because the French had gone to war in 1939 with their tails up, confident in the strength of their army, navy and air force. It was an inexplicable defeat because in 1914–18 French forces had kept German armies at bay for four years and in the end climbed victorious from the trenches. This time, however, their armies were overrun in a mere six weeks.3 It was a critical defeat because it destroyed the Republic that had embodied French democracy and patriotism since 1870, and gave way to an authoritarian regime prepared to do business with Germany.


Events moved extremely quickly. On 17 June the French government, which had retreated from Paris to Bordeaux on the Atlantic coast, sued for an armistice. Paul Reynaud, who had replaced Édouard Daladier as prime minister in March 1940 and had made an agreement with Great Britain not to sign a separate peace, lost his majority in the cabinet. He handed over to Marshal Philippe Pétain, the victor of Verdun in 1916, who with General Maxime Weygand had been brought in to strengthen the government in May 1940, when the Netherlands and Belgium crumbled before the German assault. Unfortunately, Pétain and Weygand’s thinking was not only military: defeat for them offered the opportunity of having done away with the Republic that was increasingly attacked by conservatives as opening the door of political power to Jews, communists and Freemasons. The Republic had come within an inch of falling on 6 February 1934 in Paris, when fascist and reactionary paramilitaries stormed the French parliament building. To stand in their way an anti-fascist movement had formed on the streets and within the trade unions, endorsed by the socialist, communist and centre-left radical parties which came to power as the Popular Front in 1936, under Jewish prime minister Léon Blum. Although the Popular Front prevented fascism from coming to power as in Italy and Germany and avoided the civil war that ravaged Spain between 1936 and 1939, fascists and reactionaries lay in wait for their moment to have revenge, which came in 1940.4


In his broadcast at midday on 17 June Marshal Pétain announced that, Christ-like, he was offering himself as a sacrifice to end the war with honour and to redeem France:




Sure of the affection of our admirable army which is fighting with a heroism worthy of our long military traditions against an enemy superior in numbers and weapons, sure that by its magnificent resistance it has fulfilled its duties towards our allies […] I am making a gift of my person to France to attenuate its misfortune […] It is with a heavy heart that I tell you today that we must cease the fight. Last night I sent word to the adversary, as between soldiers, after the battle and in honour, to enquire whether he was willing to explore means to end hostilities.5





Under the terms of the armistice concluded on 22 June 1940, Alsace and part of Lorraine were annexed by the Third Reich, the northern half of France and the Atlantic coast down to the Spanish border was occupied by the German military, the total French Army was reduced to 100,000 men and a huge war indemnity had to be paid to Germany as punishment for declaring war alongside Great Britain in September 1939. Less than three weeks later, on 10 July, the French parliament was summoned to the spa town of Vichy in unoccupied central France. It was persuaded by Pétain’s political éminence grise, the veteran politician Pierre Laval, to surrender full powers to Pétain to make a new constitution. Pétain immediately made himself head of what was now called the État français, abolishing the Republic. He proceeded to give himself complete executive, legislative and constitution-making power and adjourned parliament indefinitely.


The reaction of most of the French population was one of relief. The armistice meant that the fighting was over and there would be no carnage on the scale of the First World War when France had lost 1.4 million men. Instead, 1.5 million soldiers were captured by the Germans, but it was imagined that they would soon be released. The passing of the Republic that had so clearly failed both militarily and politically was not unduly regretted. Conservatives felt that France now had a saviour and strong leader who would purge the Jews, communists and Freemasons who had undermined the country from within and who would restore her unity and strength.


A few people saw things differently and were prepared to act. One of these was Charles de Gaulle, a comparatively unknown general who had spent half the First World War in a German POW camp. He confessed to his mother in November 1918 that ‘the immense joy I share with you about events is combined for me with an indescribable regret, more bitter than ever, not to have taken more of a part in them which will stay with me for the rest of my life.’6 Since then he had proved himself as an authority on tank warfare and commanded the 4th Armoured Division with credit at Abbeville near the mouth of the Somme in late May to early June 1940, attempting to open up an escape route for troops holed up at Dunkirk. He was appointed Under-Secretary of War in Reynaud’s government on 5 June and was described by Churchill’s envoy as observing the rising panic and defeatism in stony silence, ‘ceaselessly smoking cigarettes, lighting one from the other’.7 De Gaulle was one of the minority in the government who had favoured continuing the struggle; isolated, he now feared that he might be arrested. Early on 17 June he and his aide-de-camp, Lieutenant Geoffroy de Courcel, boarded a small plane at Bordeaux, provided by the British, and flew to England as Pétain was making his broadcast. The next day, 18 June 1940, de Gaulle made his famous riposte on the airwaves of the BBC:




I, General de Gaulle, now in London, invite French officers and soldiers who are on British soil or who find their way there, with or without their weapons; I invite engineers and skilled workers in the munitions industries who are on British soil or who find their way there, to contact me. Whatever happens, the flame of resistance must never go out and will not go out.8





Although according to the Gaullist myth his message marks the founding moment of the French Resistance, not many people in fact heard it at the time. Because resistance was at first imagined only in military terms it was addressed in the first instance to the military – to the 30,000 soldiers, sailors and airmen who were in Britain, having been taken off the beaches at Dunkirk or escaped from other Channel or Atlantic ports in ships fleeing the disaster. It was also addressed to the remains of the French Army in retreat across the southern parts of France. However the message was also heard by some of the civilian population, many strewn along the roads leading to southern France or in the towns and villages where they sheltered, weathering the storm. Confused, angry, humiliated, they were not in a position to continue the fight straightaway. They too had to decide whether to return to their former lives and buckle down under the new regime, or whether to begin to seek like-minded people with a view to ‘doing something’, whatever that might be.


Those who later became involved in resistance activity were keen to demonstrate that they had been resisters ‘of the first hour’. Their honour flowed from how promptly they had answered de Gaulle’s call to resist. Rallying to de Gaulle was, nevertheless, always a minority activity, and that minority was often frustrated by a majority sceptical about de Gaulle’s haste and ambition to create a government-in-exile in opposition to Marshal Pétain.9 The first potential source of support was the French expatriate community in London and influential French people passing through, but support was in short supply. The director of the French Institute, Denis Saurat, a professor of literature at King’s College and an authority on Milton, Blake and Victor Hugo, went to see de Gaulle on 19 June at his lodgings in Seymour Grove (now Curzon Place) to offer his contacts.10 One of these was the writer André Maurois, who nevertheless refused to work for de Gaulle, fearing reprisals against his family in France, and instead sailed for the United States to lecture at Boston.11 Jean Monnet, who had been involved in negotiating logistical support from the United States and had designed a forlorn Franco-British union on 16 June 1940 as a last chance for France, found de Gaulle’s initiative too personal and too dramatic, and sailed for New York in August.12 Alexis Léger, a diplomat who also published poetry under the name of Saint-John Perse, refused to join de Gaulle not least because he had been sacked as general-secretary of the Quai d’Orsay for being too much of an appeaser by Reynaud, who then brought in de Gaulle, and Léger also went to the United States.13 The French ambassador in London, Charles Corbin, opposed de Gaulle’s bid to set up a French National Committee to represent the Free French and resigned after the British government recognised it on 23 June, making his way back to retirement in France via Rio de Janiero.14 Not until 1942 did a significant member of the diplomatic community rally to de Gaulle.


De Gaulle’s success was slightly greater with military personnel who found themselves in England, although even here only a minority came over. One early recruit was Georges Boris, whose Jewish family from Lorraine had opted for French nationality when the province was annexed by Germany in 1871. He saw himself as ‘born on the left’, shaped by the battles of the Dreyfus Affair that set intellectuals and Jews against conservatives and clericals, and was a committed socialist. Suffering from TB, he did not fight in the Great War but worked in Switzerland for the Inter-allied Commission for the blockade of the Central Powers and was later denounced as an embusqué, having a cushy job behind the lines. He had experience of government, running the private office of Léon Blum in his second Popular Front ministry in 1938, working with Treasury minister Pierre Mendès France on a Keynesian plan to restimulate the economy. This short-lived ministry came under vicious attack by the right-wing press as a ‘Jewish’ cabinet.15 In 1939 he was keen to make up his patriotic deficit and began the war as a common soldier. Promoted to sergeant, he worked as a liaison agent with the British Army and was evacuated with it from Dunkirk on 28 May 1940. On 20 June 1940 he went to de Gaulle’s headquarters to offer his services but – in the light of the Popular Front and indeed the Dreyfus Affair – expressed a concern that ‘the participation of well-known Jews and socialists might not undermine the work of General de Gaulle, alienating conservatives and military people of whom he had need’.16 He was taken on in the press department and maintained a liaison with the BBC but always felt uncomfortable in the presence of more right-wing and military elements in de Gaulle’s entourage.


The dilemma of whether or not to join de Gaulle was well illustrated by the case of General Anthoine Béthouart, who had graduated from Saint-Cyr military academy in the same cohort as de Gaulle and had commanded the French contingent of the Anglo-French expeditionary force sent to Norway in May 1940 to cut off a German invasion. This included the 13th Half Brigade of the Foreign Legion and units of Alpine Chasseurs. Repatriated to France when the Germans burst through in June he had briefly fought there before escaping to England with his troops. He heard de Gaulle’s appeal and had lunch with him on 26 June at the Rubens Hotel in Victoria. Although he understood his fellow officer’s action he felt that his duty lay elsewhere. He recalled their conversation:




‘Have you seen what I have done?’ asked de Gaulle. ‘Naturally.’ ‘So what do you think?’ ‘I think that you are right. Someone has to stay and fight with the Allies, but personally I have 7,000 men to repatriate and can’t in conscience abandon them before they are safely home.’17





At this stage it seemed very possible that France’s war against Germany, which had ended on the Continent, might continue in France’s North African colonies of Morocco, Algeria and Tunisia. Béthouart reflected that to take his forces back to Morocco was ‘tempting because hostilities may be resumed from there’. He continued, however, that ‘It is not very clear what is happening but it appears that all the top military leaders – Weygand, Darlan, Noguès, Mittelhauser – are following Marshal Pétain.’18


De Gaulle was recognised by the British government on 28 June as ‘leader of all the Free French, wherever they may be, who join him for the defence of the Allied cause’.19 Joining him or not was a drama that was played out among all French forces then stationed in England. While the Alpine Chasseurs were an élite force, the 13th Half Brigade included large numbers of Spanish republicans and Jewish refugees from Central and Eastern Europe who were not eligible to fight in the French Army proper and were regarded by the officers as respectively communists and intellectuals.20 They now joined other French soldiers and sailors who, after France had sued for an armistice, were held in makeshift camps set up on racecourses near Liverpool such as Aintree, Arrowe Park, Haydock Park and Trentham Park, or in London at the White City Stadium dog track.21 De Gaulle went to Trentham Park on 30 June but was unable to rally many troops. There was a conflict between the military hierarchy that trusted in Pétain and some of the younger soldiers and junior officers who were more rebellious in spirit and persuaded by de Gaulle.22 There was also a political dimension: within the Foreign Legion the Spanish republicans feared being sent back to Franco while Central Europeans Jews feared Hitler.23 Thus of 700 Alpine Chasseurs all but thirty decided to go back with Béthouart, while of the 13th Half Brigade of the Foreign Legion 989 out of 1,619 stayed in Britain. Many of the Spanish republicans joined the British forces. Among the 1,600 French serviceman held at the White City Stadium in London a traditional Anglophobia was spiced up by French Catholic chaplains ministering to the servicemen. Only 152 of these joined de Gaulle, while thirty-four joined the British Army and thirty-six the British Royal Navy.24


Two officers of the 13th Half Brigade of the Foreign Legion who followed de Gaulle came from traditional military backgrounds. They belonged to provincial noble families in the west of France, but something in their past incited them to dissent. Jacques Pâris de Bollardière was the son of an officer from Brittany who had served with Marshal Lyautey in Morocco. Jacques was ten when his father died in 1917 and felt that he had to continue the family tradition. However, he revolted against the discipline of the military academy of Saint-Cyr and when he graduated in 1930 said, ‘I only had a sergeant’s stripes instead of those of a sub-lieutenant.’25 After serving in Morocco like his father he was promoted to captain during the Narvik expedition and later reflected on 1940: ‘I was terribly ashamed of the defeat […] Henceforth I wanted to reject that cowardice and to fight as long as I had to so that together we could recover the right to look at each other without shame.’26 Gabriel Brunet de Sairigné, aged twenty-seven, came from the Vendean nobility, which had fought against the French Revolution, and attended Saint-Cyr. He fought at Narvik and in Brittany as a lieutenant in the 13th Half Brigade: ‘Shameful armistice’ he wrote in his diary on 23–25 June 1940, ‘What will North Africa do? Repatriation is being talked about, perhaps to Morocco. Discipline impossible: the Spaniards are leaving.’ On 1 July he witnessed the departure of all but a few Chasseurs and 700 Legionnaires: ‘Emotion at the station as the colonel said goodbye. Everyone making excuses. We all know that Morocco will not fight. Almost everyone is motivated by personal questions.’27


The decision of whether to stay or return was not easy to make or indeed easy to predict. André Dewavrin came from a solid industrial family in northern France, attended the élite École Polytechnique and served in the Chasseurs Alpins under General Béthouart in Norway and France before sailing to England on 18 June. He missed de Gaulle’s visit to Trentham Park and was sensitive to insults levelled at those who decided to stay, such as ‘war to the knifers’ and ‘English traitors’. ‘The Pétain virus was starting to work,’ he said. Right-wing himself and loyal to Béthouart, he need the latter’s approval before he stayed:




I hesitated until the last moment, and accompanied the expeditionary force to Barry Docks, where it shipped. After a final conversation with Béthouart who supported my plan, I decided to stay in England and to join General de Gaulle.28





On 1 July he met de Gaulle in the dilapidated St Stephen’s House on the Victoria Embankment, where the Free French were temporarily located before they moved to Carlton Gardens near Pall Mall at the end of the month. He was put in charge of the General’s intelligence services and became more commonly known by his pseudonym, Colonel Passy.


Soldiers who were in France at the moment of the armistice were officially demobilised and most returned to home, family and jobs. A small number, however, reacted against the resignation and passivity they found among their fellow officers and struggled to get out of the country to continue the fight from Britain. Claude Bouchinet-Serreulles, aged twenty-eight, described himself as ‘born with a silver spoon in his mouth’ and continued the diplomatic career his father had had to interrupt because of illness. He served as a liaison officer with the British Army at Arras, then retreated to the French military headquarters at Vichy, where he heard Pétain’s appeal on 17 June:




We were in the mess, each with his nose in his plate, stunned. All our hopes of continuing the war alongside the British with a president of the Republic and war cabinet in Algiers fell apart in an instant. An abyss opened up, silence. Except at our table where, after the speech, artillery colonel X of the general staff exclaimed, ‘Bravo, we will continue with the Germans and give the English a good licking.’ After a pause he added, ‘Here’s to more stars!’ He was only thinking of promotion. I felt sick and had to excuse myself and leave the table. Alone in the corridor the idea came to me for the first time that I would have to desert!29





Bouchinet went to Bordeaux and managed to board the Massilia, which was sailing to Casablanca. There he met up with Jacques Bingen who had been serving as a liaison officer with the 15th Scottish Division. Wounded in Normandy, Bingen had swum to a fishing boat which got him to Cherbourg. As the Germans closed in he jumped from a hospital train heading for Bordeaux, and took a French cargo ship from La Rochelle to Casablanca. There Bingen and Bouchinet managed to board a Polish ship going to Gibraltar and thence to England. Bingen wrote in English:




Here I am, escaped safely from Naziland and ready to join the British Empire and fight Hitler to the end […] I have lost all I had, my money (not a penny left), my job, my family who remained in France and whom I will perhaps never see again, my country and my beloved Paris, but I remain a free man in a free country and that is more than all.30





Docking at Liverpool, Bouchinet and Bingen went to London and met de Gaulle at his headquarters at St Stephen’s House on 22 July. Bouchinet was reunited with his schoolfriend from the élite Catholic Collège Stanislas in Paris, Geoffroy de Courcel, who had flown to London with de Gaulle, and while de Courcel ran de Gaulle’s military cabinet, Bouchinet headed his civil cabinet. He later reflected that ‘the clan of military men [around de Gaulle] were uniquely right wing. They were fierce partisans of the war against Germany, which set them against Vichy, but otherwise, like Vichy’s men, they were anti-republican and anti-parliamentary.’31 Bingen, who in his previous career had been the manager of a shipping consortium, was given the task of gathering together what he could of the French merchant fleet for the benefit of the Free French.32 Like Georges Boris, he sat slightly away from the centre of power but his contribution was no less significant.


Those who joined de Gaulle in London in order to continue the fight were not all prominent figures and not all men. Hélène Terré began the war in September 1939 in a conventional way as a Red Cross nurse, evacuating children from Paris. She campaigned to set up an ambulance service and told a general staff officer at the War Ministry, ‘We want to serve in this war. We are not nurses and we want to wear a French uniform.’ ‘My dear lady,’ she was told, ‘please understand that in this war no woman will set foot in the war zone.’33 After the defeat she decided to go to England where women had been recruited since 1938 into the Auxiliary Territorial Service (ATS). She arrived there in September 1940, travelling via Spain and Portugal, but was immediately arrested as a suspected fifth columnist and spent three months in Holloway prison. On her release in December she read in the paper that de Gaulle had set up an auxiliary service for women, the Corps féminin des volontaires françaises, and was put in command of all its 126 women in October 1941.


One of those who joined the Corps féminin was Tereska Szwarc, whose Polish-Jewish parents had come to France and converted to Catholicism without telling the grandparents in Lodz. Tereska attended the Lycée Henri IV and read Proust. In January 1940 she wrote in her diary:




Riddle: Who am I? I am legally French but the French think me Polish because my parents are. I am Jewish but Jews want nothing to do with me because I am also Catholic. I am a Jew of the Catholic religion, something that cannot be, although I am.34





Her sense of Polishness and Jewishness was sharpened in September 1939 when, returning from seeing the family in Poland, German armies invaded the country. The synagogue in Lodz was burned and her grandfather died of a heart attack. She feared that what had happened in Poland would happen in France, and as the Germans invaded France the family fled south to Saint-Jean-de-Luz, where boats were taking on British and Polish soldiers:




In the street I met Elisabeth, who told me of the appeal of General de Gaulle. As they tried to board a boat at Saint-Jean-de-Luz a friend said, ‘You must all flee, the Germans are coming. You are Jewish and in great danger.’ I want to go to England to join de Gaulle’s army.35





Tereska’s decision to join de Gaulle was a way of escaping her Polish-Jewish identity and affirming herself as a patriotic French woman. The family got to Lisbon in October 1940 and a boat took them to Gibraltar and thus to England, where Tereska become one of the first recruits to the women’s branch of de Gaulle’s Free French Army.


The people who joined de Gaulle in England were a happy few, but only a few. In England too they were completely reliant on the good offices and generosity of the British government, which accorded de Gaulle limited recognition as leader of Free French and provided material support under an agreement of 7 August 1940. The biggest challenge for de Gaulle in terms of military weight and legitimacy was to rally the French Empire. This extended from the French West Indies to North Africa, French West Africa and French Equatorial Africa to the French mandates of Syria and Lebanon and in the Far East to Indochina. The African possessions were supported by the 140,000-strong Army of Africa, composed largely of European regiments such as the Zouaves and Foreign Legion and North African regiments under French officers, the Moroccan, Algerian and Tunisian Tirailleurs.36 These were backed up by forces in Syria and Lebanon under General Mittelhauser and 40,000 troops in Indochina under General Catroux, the governor-general who was dismissed by Vichy at the end of June 1940 and came over to de Gaulle.37 The Empire was defended by the second-largest navy in the world after the British under the command of Admiral Darlan. If these ships could be brought over to de Gaulle’s Free French, his position would be massively reinforced, but to prise them away from Marshal Pétain, who was head of government and commander-in-chief of the armed forces, would not be easy.


This idea of continuing the war from North Africa had already occurred to twenty-seven French parliamentarians and former ministers, who set sail on the liner Massilia from Bordeaux on 21 June and arrived at Casablanca on 24 June. They included former premier Édouard Daladier, former interior minister Georges Mandel, and Pierre Mendès France, who opposed the armistice and wanted to carry on the struggle from North Africa. Unfortunately the Pétain government had facilitated their departure in order to get them out of the way and on their arrival had them arrested and interned on the ship with a view to putting them on trial as traitors.38 On 19 June de Gaulle sent a telegram to General Charles Noguès, commander-in-chief of all North African forces and resident-general in Morocco (effectively the Sultan’s prime minister) saying, ‘Am at your disposal either to fight under your orders or for any approach you may think useful.’39 A further message on 24 June read, ‘General, the defence of North Africa is you or nothing. Yes, it is you and it is the essential element and the centre of continued resistance.’40 The overture was reinforced by a visit from General François d’Astier de la Vigerie, who had been an air ace in the First World War, commanded the air battle in north-east France in May–June 1940, and had plans to continue the air war from North Africa. D’Astier initially found Noguès ‘vibrant, dynamic, super-patriotic’ but on a second occasion Noguès was in tears. He had contacted Weygand to say that North Africa did not accept capitulation, at which Weygand demanded his resignation. Noguès then concluded, ‘On reflexion, I could impose the capitulation’ and, said d’Astier, ‘he became the collaborator we knew’.41


For Great Britain, the most urgent issue after France dropped out of the war was to keep the French Navy out of German hands. Such an eventuality would threaten the naval routes that were crucial to her own survival and destroy her superiority in sea power. The French fleet was divided between Toulon, the Algerian port of Mers el-Kébir outside Oran, and Alexandria. On 2 July the British issued the French commander at Oran with a choice: sail to fight alongside the Royal Navy, or sail with reduced crews to the French West Indies to be disarmed, or be sunk. The French commander refused this ultimatum, claiming that France’s word that the fleet would not fall into German hands was enough. In the early evening of 3 July the British commenced a naval artillery barrage and air attack from the aircraft carrier Ark Royal; within minutes the bulk of the French fleet was destroyed at its moorings with the loss of 1,300 lives. While Churchill received a standing ovation in the House of Commons the French broke off diplomatic relations with Great Britain, de Gaulle was condemned to death for treason by a military tribunal in Clermont-Ferrand and was widely regarded as a prisoner of perfidious Albion.


North Africa rallied strongly behind Vichy and only a minority thought otherwise. José Aboulker, a twenty-year-old medical student from a prosperous and well-known Jewish family in Algiers, had become a reserve medical pupil-doctor, ‘the lowest army rank for medics who joined it’. ‘At the armistice,’ he remembered, ‘almost everyone hoped that the North African territories would continue the war alongside the British’ and cheered air squadrons from France that touched down there. But within a short space of time opinion in the army changed. General Weygand arrived as delegate-general of French Africa on 5 September 1940 and undertook a tour of officers’ messes in North Africa to bring them into line and nip any signs of Gaullism: ‘I saw Weygand when he came to our barracks,’ remembers Aboulker. ‘The next day you could say that the men had been turned around. The great general told them that they had to follow the Marshal in his policy of collaboration.’42


Further south in Africa, the battle for control between the Free French and Vichy was more fiercely fought out. Three thousand miles from Oran, at Pointe Noire on the sea coast of French Congo, Jesuit-educated Captain François Garbit, aged thirty, who had commanded indigenous troops in Sub-Saharan Africa since he graduated from Saint-Cyr in 1932, wrote to his mother on 30 June 1940. He described the draining away of hopes that the Empire would continue the war, as people resigned themselves to the new situation, with only a few, like himself, keen to fight on:




It is done. The armistice is signed. We hoped at least that this armistice, like that of the Netherlands for example, would only concern the metropolis. We have been disappointed. The armistice has surrendered the fleet and been extended to the Empire. We hoped that the Empire would rise up, rebel, refuse to obey a government that surrenders its forces intact and hands over its trump cards to the enemy. However, unity has not been possible […] Those who want to fight are champing at the bit while more and more accept the fait accompli and dream about their little comforts as if they could have them back. Only the voice of General de Gaulle gives a clear, clean, loyal, convincing sound. But here, so far from everything, without information, how do we know which way to go? May the Holy Spirit guide us.43





For a short time there was hesitation. Pierre Boisson, governor of French Equatorial Africa (AEF) at Brazzaville, a hundred miles inland from Pointe Noire, appealed for calm and maintained an ambiguous line about the armistice. Blanche Ackerman-Athanassiades, the wife of a colonial businessman at Brazzaville, described how ‘everyone looked at each other suspiciously. No one knew who was going to rally [to Vichy] and who wasn’t.’44 On 14 July 1940, however, Boisson flew to Dakar, the capital of French West Africa, and declared it for Vichy. He was followed by soldiers such as Major Raoul Salan, who described himself as a ‘a soldier of the Empire, of that Empire that is indispensable for French greatness’.45 He had fought in the colonial infantry since 1917 and commanded a battalion of Senegalese Tirailleurs in 1940. Horrified by Mers el-Kébir he sided with Vichy and worked for the Colonial ministry there before becoming head of intelligence in Dakar in 1942–3.


Other soldiers, nevertheless, moved in the opposite direction. They gave birth to the Free French, giving de Gaulle a foothold in Africa.46 Garbit’s commanding officer, the Corsican Jean Colonna d’Ornano, flew from Brazzaville to Lagos in Nigeria, to meet de Gaulle’s envoy to Africa and Jean Monnet’s former assistant, René Pleven. The British colonial administration in Nigeria offered financial and economic support to the components of French Equatorial Africa – Chad, Cameroon, French Congo and Gabon – to join de Gaulle and Pleven was in talks with them.47 Pleven and d’Ornano then flew east to Fort Lamy, the capital of Chad, whose position was threatened by Italian forces in Libya to the north and where – reported Garbit – ‘they were welcomed with flowers by a population which overwhelmingly wanted to continue the fight’.48 Félix Éboué, the black governor of Chad, declared to the assembled notables, ‘You have heard our decision. Those who are not in agreement may simply leave.’ 49 The rallying of Chad to the Free French on 26 August 1940 was a key moment in the balance of power between the Free French and Vichy. According to Garbit it ‘lit the powder’ in French Equatorial Africa.50 Garbit himself went to Chad to join Colonna and the offensive against the Italians in Eritrea on the Red Sea.


In the plane with René Pleven, as it landed in Lagos and then in Fort Lamy, was Major Philippe de Hautecloque, a Picardian noble who had graduated from Saint-Cyr and served in the Rif war against Morocco rebels in the 1920s. In 1940 he was on the general staff of the 4th Infantry Division. Taken prisoner twice and escaping twice, he hid in his sister’s château in Anjou before making his way via Bayonne, Spain and Portugal to join de Gaulle in London. On 4 August 1940 he broadcast on the BBC, praising the patriotism of those French people who refused to accept defeat and telling them that around de Gaulle ‘I had the joy of seeing that everyone, soldiers and civilians, are pursuing only one goal: the struggle. I did not find refugees but fighters. Be reassured, France still has its defenders.’51 Taking the name of Leclerc, by which he would henceforth be known, and kitted out in colonial gear by the British, he flew to Africa with Pleven on 6 August. He orchestrated the rallying of Cameroon to the Free French at Douala on 27 August, although in Gabon soldiers and civilians whipped up by the local bishop remained loyal to Vichy until the Free French took charge on 10 November.52


In the meantime de Gaulle had attempted, in a seaborne expedition supported by Britain, to seize control of the port of Dakar and with it the whole of French West Africa. The assault on 23–25 September was a failure, as Governor Boisson held fast and shore batteries and the battleship Richelieu, which had escaped from the British attack on the French fleet at Mers el-Kébir, fired back at the assailants.53 ‘I wanted to avoid a pitched battle between Frenchmen, so I pulled out my forces in time,’ de Gaulle wrote to his wife in London, adding, ‘the ceiling is falling on my head.’54 Although he went on to be warmly received in French Equatorial Africa on a tour between 8 October and 17 November, the Free French had suffered a massive blow to their confidence and at the British War Cabinet on 30 September there was debate about whether they had backed the right horse or should reopen talks with Vichy.55


There was a great distance both geographically and psychologically between what the Free French were doing in far-flung parts of the French Empire and the choices that were open to individuals in metropolitan France, where the military option was not available. In German-occupied northern France there was no French military force, all paramilitary groups including boy scouts were banned and all weapons, including hunting rifles, had to be handed in on pain of death. In the unoccupied or Free Zone, where Vichy held sway, there was an Armistice Army, 100,000-strong, available to keep internal order, but this was entirely loyal to the regime.


In a few isolated minds, even so, thoughts about resistance of one kind or another began to germinate. In which minds were these thoughts entertained? Were these early resisters patriots who instinctively reacted against German occupation? Were they idealists who reacted against Vichy’s authoritarianism and policies of discrimination? Were they simply oddballs and mavericks who did not go along with the conformist majority? Were there deep family or social reasons for their resistance or were their choices purely contingent, explained by chance?


All French people claimed to be patriots, although their patriotism meant different things. At the heart of the narrative was France’s bravery and endurance in the Great War, next to which the war of 1940 was a humiliating failure. This impacted on individuals in different ways. Some saw themselves in a tradition of fathers who had served heroically in the First World War and who worshipped Pétain in 1940 as they had at Verdun in 1916; they followed their fathers out of filial piety. A second group felt that they had been unable to match up to fathers or siblings who had excelled in the Great War. They had fallen short when their own turn had come in 1940 and their masculinity was impugned. Resistance was their way of recovering lost patriotic ground and a sense of self. A third group had fathers whose roles had been less than heroic in the Great War; they had been unfit to fight or let the country down in some way. It was the task of the younger generation – whether male or female – not only to prove themselves but to redeem family honour.


‘Since my father was an officer and I graduated from Saint-Cyr, I was steeped in the military world from my earliest childhood,’ said Henri Frenay. ‘I belonged to that traditional, poor, patriotic and patriarchal French Right without even being aware of it.’56 His father had died in the First War when Henri was a boy and he was brought up by his mother. A captain in 1940 he was taken prisoner on the Maginot Line but escaped and went south to Marseille in late July. ‘In the southern zone,’ he recalled in 1948, ‘the immense majority of the population welcomed the armistice with an infinite relief and the Republic disappeared on 10 July to general indifference.’ He did not hear of de Gaulle’s appeal until the end of July 1940 and ‘this did not have a noticeable repercussion at the time; Pétain was the head of government, De Gaulle was nothing and we did not have the means to join him’.57 The popularity of Marshal Pétain as the saviour of the French people was at its height and for Frenay he was initially a surrogate father or grandfather. He described the Marshal’s official visit to Marseille on 3 December 1940, when he reviewed 15,000 men of the Légion Française des Combattants, in which all veterans’ associations were now combined, and was acclaimed by the crowd:




The head of state alights from his car, grave and dignified. He is in uniform. Without a smile he surveys the electrified crowd which he salutes with a flourish of his stick. With his hair white as snow and pale blue eyes, his calm has a powerful effect […] People break through the barriers and throw themselves at the Head of State. Dumbfounded, I see an old man kiss the Marshal’s hand. A large woman with a wide, pleated dress, probably a fishwife, kneels and piously kisses the hem of his coat. I have never witnessed such religious fervour.58





Frenay believed that Pétain was playing a ‘double game’, keeping lines open to the British while dealing with the Germans. In December 1940 he was appointed to the Deuxième Bureau (Intelligence) of the army general staff at Vichy and saw himself in a position to uncover military intelligence that might be used by the British. It was not until January 1941 that the scales fell from his eyes and he left the army to think seriously about resistance. His mother, as guardian of the family’s military honour, threatened never to speak to him again.59


Philippe Viannay, aged twenty-two in 1940, was very clear that ‘the origins of my resistance owe nothing to my family’. His father had served under Pétain at Verdun and would not have a bad word said against him. His career as a mining engineer took him to Poland, which was very much in France’s orbit between the wars, and Philippe enjoyed hunting there. The family was extremely Catholic, one uncle a priest while two sisters became nuns. His elder brother went to cavalry school at Saumur but Philippe was destined for the priesthood and attended the seminary of Issy-les-Moulineau. Two years later he upset his parents by deciding to quit and went to the Sorbonne in 1938. When war came he was mobilised in the colonial infantry and after the armistice returned to the Sorbonne, where friendships led him towards resistance. Fear of his father, who ‘was convinced that Pétain was playing a very clever game and wanted to confront the Germans’, meant that it was some time before Philippe broke with the cult of Pétain: ‘In his eyes I was committing the sin of pride by challenging the established order.’60


Jacques Lecompte-Boinet was one of the second group who found it impossible to live up to his heroic father and felt his masculinity challenged. At the outbreak of war in 1939 he wrote in his diary, ‘I am obsessed by the memory of my father. I return to that day, 2 August 1914, when my father gave his last pieces of advice to my mother before going off to war on horseback. The only bit of the memory that remains is him telling her to hide the pictures that recall the war of 1870 in a cupboard behind the wardrobe and I think that things were much simpler twenty-five years ago.’61 His father had been killed at the front in 1916, when Jacques was eleven, and he did not manage to match his father’s heroism in 1939. A tax official in the Paris Préfecture, he was not called up because of his poor eyesight and because he had four children. Instead, he was given a job at the Gare Saint-Lazare directing refugees going to Normandy. His sense of military inadequacy was increased by the fact that he had married one of the daughters of the legendary General Mangin, and that the husband of one of Mangin’s other daughters, Diego Brosset, had pursued a brilliant military career. On 13 June 1940 Lecompte-Boinet joined the exodus south on a bicycle with two of his colleagues, but was appalled by the reaction to the armistice of people around him, such as ‘the schoolmaster who criticised the royalist agitator Maurras for being too left wing and saw only one thing: “the Jews will leave and order will be re-established”.’ Two years later, deep into his resistance career and after the birth of a fifth child, he reflected, ‘I thought constantly of my father. I had not been able to fight normally in the war but I did not want to leave my children with the memory of a father who had spent that time with his feet snugly in his slippers, waiting till it blew over.’62


In some cases the heroism of siblings was just as much a challenge as that of the father. Emmanuel d’Astier de la Vigerie was fourteen years younger than his brother General François d’Astier and three years younger than his brother Henri, who had joined up in 1917. ‘From August 1914 – I was fourteen years old,’ he said, ‘I was very miserable. Everyone else went to war but I was embusqué because I wasn’t old enough to fight […] I was the only one who could not become a hero.’63 After the First World War Emmanuel went to naval school but disappointed his father because he did not pass out in the top ten out of 150. After seven years in the navy he dropped out and attempted to become a writer but failed at that too. He was encouraged by the darling of the extreme right, Drieu la Rochelle, but suffered the ‘traumatism’ of having his first offering turned down by the Nouvelle Revue Française. While his brothers again became heroes in 1940 he achieved nothing. He was a naval intelligence officer at Saint-Nazaire as the French armies collapsed. With five men under his command he set off to try to get a boat to England or Africa, first from La Rochelle, then from Saint-Jean-de-Luz, but even that did not work out. His involvement in resistance at this point went back to a deep sense of failure. For the first time he heard the words, ‘we must do something.’64


The third group was composed of those who wished to save family honour from the shame of a father who had not been a wartime hero. Agnès Humbert was the daughter of a former soldier, journalist and senator of the Meuse who had made a reputation before the First War for exposing military incompetence. However, in 1918 he was himself accused of accepting German money and, though he was acquitted, his career was in ruins. Divorced from a painter, politically a left-wing anti-fascist, and a historian at the Musée des Arts et Traditions populaires in Paris, Agnès was on the road fleeing south when news of the armistice came through. It was her moment to be brave and she recalled taking on a different personality. ‘All around me men were weeping silent tears. Jumping out of the car, I stamped and yelled, “It’s all lies, it’s all lies, it’s the German radio that’s saying that just to demoralize us. It can’t be true, it’s not possible.” I can still hear my voice, as though it were someone else shouting.’ Arriving at her mother’s house in the Limousin she found it teeming with French and Belgian refugees. De Gaulle’s voice came over the radio and she thought, ‘It’s not over yet.’ Again it was the men, even the soldiers, who did not share her sentiments. An old captain to whom she told the news replied, ‘Oh yes, he’s a right one, that de Gaulle. Oh, we all know about him, don’t you worry! It’s all a lot of nonsense. Me, I’m a reservist anyway. All I want is to get back to my business in Paris. I’ve got a family to feed. He’s a crackpot, that de Gaulle, you mark my words.’65 Agnès returned to Paris at the end of July but in her case it was to join one of the first resistance cells.


In other cases the shame of the father was that of omission rather than commission. Jean Cavaillès was a brilliant young philosophy teacher who defended his thesis in 1938 and was appointed junior lecturer at the Arts Faculty of Strasbourg; when war broke out he was recruited to the army’s deciphering department. His father, a soldier who had taught at the military school of Saint-Maixent, was invalided out of the First World War and died during the German invasion of 1940. ‘Our father lived in close communion with Jean, who always kept a picture of him on his desk,’ his sister Gabrielle recalled. ‘He was proud of this son who was realising his life’s ideal – this philosopher son, this soldier son.’66 In the military, and then in the Resistance, Jean fulfilled the aspiration to heroism that his father had never quite realised. To help him he fell back on a family legend of resistance as persecuted heretics and Protestants in Provence. Gabrielle wrote, ‘Our father was in fact the descendant of the countess Malan de Mérindol, who was buried alive in the twelfth century because she refused to abjure her faith. Jean was thus the heir of men and women who defended their ideal at the risk of their lives,’ she continued, ‘the heir of Marie Durand who carved the word “resistance” into the stones of her cell.’67 The story of Marie Durand, who had been imprisoned as a Protestant for nearly forty years in the Tour de Constance at Aigues-Mortes was a common reference among those who engaged in resistance to the Germans.


Resisters are often seen as idealists as much as patriots, striving after a better world that had been frittered away by the Republic and perverted by the German occupation and Vichy. One of the questions asked of former resisters by the Comité d’Histoire de la Deuxième Guerre Mondiale was how they had reacted to Munich. It was assumed that their prescience in seeing Munich as an appeasement of Nazism that was condemned to fail led them directly to resistance when the Germans occupied France. In this sense they were unlike the crowds of ‘cons’ berated by Daladier (under his breath as his plane from Munich touched down in Paris), who thought that the agreement had brought peace in their time. Opposition to Munich might provide a clue to the thinking of some resisters but in the case of communists, who vehemently criticised Munich, it was complicated a year later by the Nazi-Soviet Pact.


For some, resistance was a continuation of the anti-fascist movement that had given birth to the Popular Front in 1936. That said, resisters were in fact drawn from all parts of the political spectrum, from the extreme left to the extreme right, and included socialists and Christian democrats who belonged to a long and controversial tradition of prising Catholicism away from the established order and reconciling faith with freedom. Some of the extreme right moved naturally into collaboration with the Germans, but the nationalist thrust of extreme-right politics could also lead them to oppose servility. Resisters were often political idealists who thought a great deal during the Resistance of the world they would build after Liberation. Rarely, however, were they partisan political animals, as the political parties had failed in their mission to defend the Republic: 569 deputies and senators voted full powers to Pétain on 10 July 1940, while only 80 voted against and 17 abstained. They tended to be political nonconformists who opposed the Party line where that line was determined by political expediency rather than principle.


Pierre Brossolette was an exemplar of Third Republic social mobility, a brilliant student at the École Normale Supérieure who was the son of a primary school inspector in Paris and grandson of a peasant.68 His mother died when he was a child and he was described by his friend Louis Joxe as having ‘a rather anxious character, wondering whether he was going to achieve great things; it was something that haunted him’. He carved out a career as a journalist, writing for papers such as L’Europe Nouvelle. He was also an activist in the French Socialist Party, but failed to get elected with the Popular Front in 1936, and was not one of the successful young socialists close to the prime minister, Léon Blum. In that sense he was not a party man. Having long been committed to reconciliation with Germany ‘he was’, continued Joxe, ‘the first among us who understood fairly quickly where we were going, that is, towards war, towards a fight to the death, well, between democracy and fascism’.69 He was resolutely opposed to Munich and came into his own in 1940 when he was promoted to infantry captain, described as ‘the officer in the midst of his men, a real warrior’.70 Forced to retreat, news of the armistice came through to his unit near Limoges. Here Brossolette and his men disagreed, as one of his sub-lieutenants recalls:




The men welcomed the armistice with a joy that was understandable because it put an end to their present sufferings, even if it was out of place. Brossolette was deeply pained. ‘They don’t understand,’ he told me, ‘that we are beaten. They don’t understand what it means. But I fear that before long they will understand only too well. They don’t know the Boches. We are going to be very unhappy.’71





At the far right of the political spectrum were resisters who were often First World War heroes and politically no different from Pétainists and maintained contacts with Vichy. In the inter-war period they had gone into industry and associated with right-wing organisations such as the Maurras’ royalist Action Française, George Valois’ Faisceau and Colonel de La Rocque’s Croix de Feu, which recruited initially only from those who had seen action at the front in 1914–18 and which tried repeatedly to overthrow the Republic.72 They diverged from Vichy’s strategy of collaboration because they believed that the war was not yet over and that military intelligence should be passed to the British, who were still fighting. Among them, Alfred Heurtaux was an air ace who had been wounded in a dog fight above Ypres in 1917, worked for General Motors and Renault between the wars, and was active in the veterans’ movement, accepting responsibility in Vichy’s Légion Française des Combattants formed in August 1940 to unite all veterans’ organisations.73 Another, Alfred Touny, who finished the Great War as a much-decorated captain and pursued a career in law and industry between the wars, had been involved in the Croix de Feu.74


Communists were perhaps the most radically inclined to resistance, although the path from Party to resistance was a complicated one and not all took the same route. Communism was the most dynamic force that had taken on fascism in Italy and Nazism in Germany. Crushed there, it had played a leading role in the Spanish Civil War, and the International Brigades that volunteered to fight there were recruited by its international body, the Comintern. With 328,000 members in 1937, the French Communist Party had been a key factor in the Popular Front, although the Party refused to serve in what it regarded as a ‘bourgeois’ government. It had campaigned for intervention in Spain and was at the forefront of opposition to Munich. However, this direction of travel was sharply reversed by the Nazi-Soviet Pact of August 1939. Feeling abandoned by France and Britain after Munich, Stalin opted for a non-aggression pact with Hitler as a breathing space and cover for territorial annexations. Communist parties everywhere were thrown into a spin. Was the anti-fascist line of the last decade suddenly finished, and the new enemy the imperialist and warmongering powers of France and Great Britain? The French government under Daladier immediately banned the Party, expelled its members from local government and began to arrest its activists. Party members were confused and divided: the leadership generally followed the Moscow line: after all the Soviet Union was the home of socialism and must be safeguarded. Many of the rank and file drifted away.75 A small proportion of activists, particularly those who had fought in the International Brigades, persisted in the anti-fascist line, which meant distancing themselves from the Party until the German invasion of the Soviet Union in June 1941, when resistance behind the German lines became officially sanctioned.76


Among communist activists who became involved in resistance three groups were apparent. The first might be called Jewish Bolsheviks of foreign origin, whose attitude to the Nazi-Soviet Pact depended on how closely they identified with the French Communist Party. The second were the students of the Latin Quarter in Paris, who were bloodied by the anti-fascist street fights of the 1930s and did not always follow the Party line. The third were communists of working-class origin, who were influenced both by Moscow and the anti-fascist line and were also divided by the Nazi-Soviet Pact.


Lew Goldenberg was born in Paris in 1908 to Polish-Russian revolutionaries who were close to Rosa Luxemburg, and who fled to France after the failure of the 1905 revolution, his father working as a doctor. He was educated in the French system, including the Sorbonne and Paris Law Faculty, changed his name to Léo Hamon, and became a barrister at the Constitutional Council in 1930. His parents subsequently returned to Soviet Russia and Léo himself joined the French Communist Party after the riots of 6 February 1934, mainly because he saw the Party as ‘the heirs of 1793, devoted to liberty and full of salutary hatred for what they called fascism’, but partly because privately he imagined that it would help to get his mother out of the Soviet Union. ‘Munich outraged and disappointed me,’ he recalled. ‘I experienced it for what it was: capitulation, abandonment and a mistake.’ Equally, though, given his view that fascism must be opposed, he was ‘stupefied as much as outraged’ by the Nazi-Soviet pact and did not see why French communists should consider themselves bound by it. He joined the army but soon found his unit in retreat. Opposed to the armistice, he took the view that each French person was now free to continue the fight as best they could, in Britain or the French Empire if possible.77


Another foreign Jewish Bolshevik, Roger Ginsburger, was a rather more hard-line militant. Born in Alsace in 1901, when it was part of Imperial Germany, he was the son of a rabbi who was also university librarian at the University of Strasbourg. His upbringing and education were thus German up to the Abitur, which he took in 1918, although at school he was bullied as a ‘dirty Jew’ or ‘Yid’. In 1919, when Alsace was restored to France, he went to a special class at the Lycée Saint-Louis (in Paris) for bright children from the recovered province, and then studied architecture in Strasbourg, Stuttgart and Munich. He was seduced by the Bolshevik Revolution, abandoned his Jewish faith, and tried to combine art and politics in the Communist-party-inspired Association of Revolutionary Writers and Artists. In 1934 he became a permanent member of the French Communist Party, writing for L’Humanité and the Cahiers du Bolchévisme, and was promoted to the Central Committee in 1935. Like all French communists he was hostile to Munich but had a very different reaction to the Nazi-Soviet Pact from Léo Hamon. His argument was that communists should show solidarity with those who now faced government persecution as traitors. To criticise the pact, he said, ‘at a moment when comrades faithful to the Party are being driven out of town halls and trade union leadership, and some indeed arrested, when the pro-Munich press are calling communists Hitler’s agents, would be to justify these repressive measures and to betray one’s comrades’.78 He attempted to keep the communist press going under the German occupation, but was himself arrested by the Vichy police in October 1940, and did the rounds of a number of prisons and camps until he managed to escape in January 1941. The nom de guerre he invented for himself in the Resistance was Pierre Villon.


The Latin Quarter students included Jean-Pierre Vernant and his older brother Jacques, who had lost their father at the front in 1915 when they were small children. They nevertheless shared brilliant academic careers, Jacques coming top in the philosophy agrégation examination in 1935, Jean-Pierre achieving the same in 1937, aged twenty-three. Jean-Pierre traced his commitment back a long way: ‘I was a communist militant from 1931, starting with the Friends of the USSR at the Lycée Carnot. I attended my first political meeting in the Latin Quarter when I was in the philosophy class [of my Lycée] and was still in short trousers.’ The years 1932–4 were particularly tough, he remembers, ‘because the Latin Quarter was effectively in the hands of extreme-right groups: the Camelots du Roi, who supported the Action Française students, the Jeunesses Patriotes, the youth section of the Croix de Feu, the Francisques. There was an atmosphere of physical violence, we got beaten up and even ejected from the Sorbonne.’ The fierceness of the battle nevertheless bonded him with a group of young people who subsequently became key players in the Resistance in the Free Zone, including Lucie Bernard, ‘with whom I sold the Avant Garde and who had the same qualities of extraordinary nerve that she demonstrated later’.79


Lucie Bernard was initially destined to become a primary-school teacher (institutrice) but managed by sheer force of will to get into the Sorbonne and pass the agrégation in history in order to become a secondary school teacher. In the Latin Quarter, she agreed with Vernant, ‘We fought, literally. Activism involved physical confrontation. I punched, I punched.’80 During her time as a student there she met Raymond Samuel, later known as Raymond Aubrac, who came from a bourgeois Jewish family that had left Lorraine after 1870, and was training to become an engineer at one of the leading grandes écoles, the École des Ponts. Raymond moved in the communist circles of Lucie’s group without actually feeling enough of a ‘member of the family’ to become a communist, and though not himself a practising Jew, he remembered that ‘in the Jewish milieus I frequented anti-Semitism was considered a return to medieval barbarism.’81


These communist students were fiercely opposed to Munich but were less keen to follow the Party line over the Nazi-Soviet Pact. Jean-Pierre Vernant was already mobilised in the army and recalls that the pact ‘hit me between the eyes’. He argued that ‘the Russians are doing that, I don’t know why, I don’t know their thinking. But that does not change our position.’ Known in the army as a communist he was not selected for officer training and remained a sergeant, but reasoned, ‘When you are faced by Hitlerism, there is no alternative but to fight.’ He had retreated to Narbonne and was with his brother when Pétain told the country that he was asking the Germans for an armistice:




I was felled by shame and anger […] I was convinced that for us it was beginning. The sight of the débâcle revived an old nationalist reflex, deep humiliation and fury at the idea that those people were at home in our homes. And at the same time a very deep anti-fascism, a hatred of all that.82





Vernant’s anti-fascist reflex never really faltered. Neither did that of Lucie and Raymond Aubrac, who had married in December 1939. Raymond was taken prisoner after the defeat but was extracted from a POW camp at Saarbrücken thanks to Lucie’s cunning. She tracked down Raymond’s brother, a doctor working in a POW hospital in Troyes, and from him obtained a substance which, placed under the skin, produced the symptoms of tropical fever. After he was transferred from prison to hospital, Lucie extracted him once again by flirting with a guard, providing Raymond with workmen’s overalls, and hiding him under a train wagon to cross the frontier back to the Free Zone where together they began resistance activity.83


The working-class constituency of French communism was extremely important. The labour movement had organised itself from the end of the nineteenth century into trade unions, which came together both nationally as trade federations and locally in Bourses du Travail, the union of unions. Politically it was represented by the Socialist Party and the Communist Party, which split from it in 1920 over the question of loyalty to Moscow. The working class was heir to a powerful political tradition that went back to the Paris Commune of 1871 and to the Revolutions of 1848 and 1789. The communists, however, also saw themselves as part of an international communist movement ranged against capitalism and imperialism, and were loyal to the Soviet Union, which was acclaimed as the first socialist society.


The tension between ‘Moscow’ communists and veterans of the International Brigades went down the middle of Lise Ricol’s family. Her father had come from Spain to France in 1900 to look for work and became a miner at Montceau-les-Mines, moving to Vénissieux, a working-class suburb of Lyon, in the early 1930s. The family was entirely communist and had wide communist connections. Lise’s elder sister Fernande, born in 1913, married Raymond Guyot, who became national organiser of the Communist Youth and went to Moscow in 1936 as secretary of the International Communist Youth. Lise, born in 1916, became a secretary at the Communist Party’s regional headquarters in Lyon, where she met and married a Party official, Auguste Delarue. When Delarue was sent to train at the Lenin School in Moscow in 1934 Lise followed him, working as a typist at Comintern headquarters. There she met the love of her life, Artur London, a Czech communist who was also working for the International Communist Youth. Lise abandoned Delarue and returned to France with Artur to live together; Lise was involved in setting up the International Brigades while Artur went to fight in Spain with the Brigades.84 The family divided over the Nazi-Soviet Pact. Guyot, who had been elected a communist deputy for Villejuif in 1937, staunchly followed the Moscow line. Mobilised to his regiment at Tarascon, he continued to enjoy immunity as a deputy until he appeared in the Chamber of Deputies on 10 January 1940 and remained seated while honours were voted to the French Army. Twenty-seven communist deputies were sent for trial in March–April 1940 and were taken to a succession of prisons in France before being moved to the Maison Carré in Algiers. Guyot deserted and was spirited away by the Party via Belgium to Moscow, following on the heels of PCF leader Maurice Thorez. Given the betrayal of the Munich agreement and the invasion of Prague by the German armies in March 1939, however, Artur London stuck to the anti-fascist line of the Czechoslovak Communist Party. This approved the organisation of a Free Czechoslovak Army fighting alongside Britain and France, which Artur joined at Agde in August 1939.85


André Tollet was a typical product of the Paris working class and was something of a hybrid in that he had connections with both Spain and Moscow. Brought up in Paris, the son of small tradesmen, he left school at thirteen in 1926 to become an apprentice upholsterer in the Faubourg Saint-Antoine:




The Faubourg had kept its old traditions. The Revolution of 1789 began there. We sang songs of the Commune by Pottier and Clément in the workshops and we commemorated it by processing to ‘the Wall’, the Mur des Fédérés at Père Lachaise […] I was not yet fifteen when I paraded for the first time.86





He became involved in the Woodworkers’ Union and the Communist Youth and was invited by Raymond Guyot to represent them at a meeting of the Red Syndicalist International in Moscow in 1936.


Back in Paris he took part in the strikes of May–June 1936 that ushered in the Popular Front and, having had his request to join the International Brigades turned down by the Party, organised collections in support of the Brigades and went to Spain with a convoy of shoes in 1938. Despite his confusion he came down on the side of the Nazi-Soviet Pact, saying, ‘We had two ideas: […] either it was totally stupid or else the Soviets probably knew much more than we did. As a result we did not want to condemn the pact.’ He was called up to fight but was unmoved by the defeat of France, which seemed more interested in repressing its own people than in winning a war. After demobilisation he returned to Paris and tried to bring traumatised communists back together through neighbourhood committees and clandestine trade unions. However the Vichy government organised a massive clampdown on communists in October 1940, as a result of which he was arrested and sent first to Fresnes prison, then to camps for dangerous internees at Rouillé and Compiègne.87


One of the International Brigadists whom Tollet met in Spain was Henri Tanguy, a political commissar of the famous XIV Brigade. Tanguy was a Parisian of Breton origin, who left school at thirteen and was sacked from a succession of car factories for organising strikes until in 1936 he became a permanent official at the Metalworkers’ Union. There he met his wife, Cécile Le Bihan, a secretary at the Metalworkers’ Union, whose father François was a long-serving communist and active in the Secours Rouge International, so that she often met Czech, Hungarian, Yugoslav, Italian and German political exiles who sheltered with them. Tanguy secured permission from the Party to go to Spain, where he joined the International Brigades and fought there in 1937 and in 1938.88 ‘My anti-fascist determination never failed,’ he insisted. ‘Perhaps it was because I had been in the Brigades and seen fascism at first hand.’89 In 1939 he was mobilised, then sent as a skilled worker to an arms factory near the Pyrenean border, and in 1940 drafted into a regiment of colonial infantry. He remembered hearing Pétain’s speech at a water fountain in the Limousin but was in a minority as far as his dismissal of the Marshal and thoughts of resistance were concerned:




As I knew the character and his role as French ambassador to Franco, I could not stop myself saying, ‘It’s not him who will get us out of this mess.’ There was a chorus of protests. I had to beat a hasty retreat. I really thought those good people were going to attack me.90





His wife Cécile, left in Paris, meanwhile suffered a string of disasters. Her father François Le Bihan was arrested in April 1940, accused of attempting to reconstitute a dissolved organisation, the Communist Party. She had a seven-month-old baby, Françoise, who fell ill as medical staff fled from the Paris hospitals with everyone else. The baby died as German armies marched into the capital. Soon afterwards she agreed to undertake resistance activity for the Metalworkers’ Union because, she said, ‘I had nothing left. My father had been arrested, I didn’t know where my husband was and I had lost my little girl. What was keeping me back? I got involved. It helped me. It gave something back to me.’91


Even more a product of the Paris working class was Pierre Georges, who was a born rebel. The son of a Paris boulanger, he belonged to a large communist family in the Belleville-La Villette area of Paris. His older siblings, Daniel and Denise, dragged him and his younger brother Jacques into the Communist Youth. He was sacked at the age of fourteen for striking back at his pâtissier boss and became a riveter. Overcoming the reluctance of the Party, Pierre Georges went to Spain at the age of seventeen in November 1936 to join the International Brigades, rising to become an officer in the XIV Brigade until, wounded in the stomach, he was evacuated back to France in 1938. In Paris he found work in an aircraft factory and was promoted to the central committee of the Communist Youth, where he met and married Andrée Coudrier.92 The family was deeply affected by anti-communist repression after the Nazi-Soviet Pact. Pierre Georges, his pregnant wife Andrée and younger brother Jacques were arrested. The men were imprisoned at La Santé, the women sent to La Roquette. Andrée was released in February 1940, while Pierre caught up on Balzac, Maupassant and Dostoevsky. ‘I am reading a wonderful novel at the moment,’ he wrote to Andrée, ‘It’s Stendhal’s Le Rouge et le Noir. I bet it will make you cry.’93 As the Germans approached Paris in May 1940, Jacques was transferred to the Pyrenean camp of Gurs and was given an eighteen-month sentence by a military court; Pierre was transferred to another camp but escaped en route, disguised as a soldier. He made contact with the Party again at Marseille and was sent back to Paris to develop communist resistance.94


The conflict between the Moscow communists and more freewheeling veterans of previous struggles was sharply highlighted by the case of Charles Tillon. He enjoyed heroic status in 1919, at the age of twenty-two, as one of the mutineers of the Black Sea Fleet who refused to fight the Russian revolutionaries and were sentenced to terms of hard labour. In 1936 he was elected communist deputy for Aubervilliers in the Paris red belt and was sent by the Party leadership in October 1939 to reconstitute the Party in the Bordeaux area. He was troubled by the way the Party, locked into the Nazi-Soviet pact, blamed the war on the rich bourgeoisie and Anglo-French imperialists but did not criticise Nazi Germany. He was hiding in a mill owned by a peasant family when he heard Pétain’s call on 17 June to cease the fight and took it upon himself to call for resistance:




A youthful sense of revolt fired me up. I gulped down good Mme Jouques’ soup and went upstairs to draft a tract. It was an appeal to ensure that the representatives of the people did not remain voiceless when they saw France invade, subjected, and kept in cowardly ignorance of the true nature of fascism.95





He drafted a manifesto, which was duplicated and slid surreptitiously between the pages of newspapers on sale the next day. Preceding even de Gaulle’s appeal by a few hours, it beat the official communist appeal of 10 July by nearly a month and later landed him in serious trouble with the Party. It called for:




A government fighting against HITLERIAN FASCISM and the 200 families. To negotiate with the USSR for an equitable peace, fighting for national independence and dealing with fascist organisations. People of the factories and fields, shops and offices, artisans, shopkeepers and intellectuals, soldiers, sailors and airmen still under arms, UNITE in action. [signed] The Communist Party.96





Many stories of resistance are easily be traced back to patriotism or political commitment, and commitment to resistance seems to arise from a strong sense of belief. In other cases, resistance seem rather to be an effect of contingency. Like Madeleine Riffaud’s experience of a German kick in the backside, they were an immediate response to shock and humiliation. There is, nevertheless, generally a backstory that places the humiliation in context and through which the resister makes greater sense of the decisive moment.


Madeleine Riffaud, for example, was brought up in Picardy, in the battle zone of the Great War. Her father had been wounded in that war and she remembered going with her stepmother, ‘veil of mourning blowing in the wind’, wandering among the tombs of a military cemetery one 11 November to see if the body of her husband had been identified.97 However, she also traced her resistance reflex back much further to a family tradition of revolt. She was brought up on the story of her great-great-grandfather who, as a conscript, had refused to fire on the revolutionaries of July 1830, and after leading peasant opposition to Napoleon III’s coup d’état in his home village in 1851, was sent to do forced labour in Algeria. He was for her a rebel convict like Victor Hugo’s Jean Valjean. Closer to home, her grandfather, whom she was brought back from the exodus on a stretcher, was a former agricultural labourer with the reputation of being a ‘red’. Her later trajectory into communist resistance was thus shaped by family history.


Geneviève de Gaulle, a student at the University of Rennes in 1940, was also clear about the precise moment of her conversion to resistance: ‘The first thing that made me a resister was to hear Pétain [on 17 June]; the second was to see the arrival of German motorcyclists.’ She had joined the exodus to Brittany but the motorcyclists who fanned out ahead of the main German force soon caught up with them. Naturally there were other stories in the family cupboard. Charles de Gaulle was her uncle but her father, the General’s older brother, who had fought in the Great War, took her on a regular basis to visit the battlefields. He had been a mining engineer in the Sarre, which was provisionally attached to France after 1918, and campaigned during the plebiscite in 1935 against its restoration to Germany. He was a conservative and admired German culture and music, but he had read Mein Kampf and hated ‘the Prussian spirit’ and Nazism. A commander at the military camp of Coëtquidan, near Rennes, he led the retreat of his troops into Brittany, where there was briefly a plan to set up a ‘redoubt’ of military resistance. Geneviève followed with the rest of her family, including her grandmother. When a local curé reported hearing the appeal of 18 June her grandmother took him by the arm and said, ‘but Monsieur le curé, that is my son!’98


Hélène Mordkovitch, who would later meet Geneviève de Gaulle in the same resistance group, followed a very different trajectory. In family terms she was torn between Red and White Russians. Her father was a Russian who had served in the French Army in the First World War, and met her mother while she was working as a medical student in the Franco-Russian hospital. In 1917 her father returned to Russia to take part in the revolution and Hélène, born in Paris that year, never saw him again. Her mother remarried a White Russian and worked in the kitchens of the Russian college at Boulogne-Billancourt, which was attended by White Russian émigrés. In search of her own identity, Hélène opted for being French: ‘Are you not ashamed that a little Russian girl is top in French?’ her schoolteacher would ask the class. She got to the Sorbonne in 1937 and after her mother died the next year survived by taking a part-time job as librarian of the Sorbonne’s physical geography department. In 1940 she joined the exodus south and was horrified by the egoism and passivity of the French people in the face of defeat. She stayed with a family in Rodez, where the grandfather took to his bed and passed away, the parents could only think about the fruit harvest and the children went out to applaud the Germans as they marched in. ‘In three generations,’ she reflected, ‘it was an extraordinary image of what France had become.’ Until then she had not felt herself to be Jewish but on a train of refugees returning north to Paris on 6 September 1940 the guard said that Jews were prohibited from crossing the demarcation line into the Occupied Zone. At the crossing point at Vierzon a huge swastika flag was flying and she went one better than Madeleine Riffaud: ‘We were arriving in Germany. I was so stressed that I slapped the German soldier who addressed us.’99


Awakening to a consciousness that resistance was necessary took place in thousands of minds, in those of the Free French who joined de Gaulle in Britain and the French Empire and in those of the individuals who refused to accept the armistice in metropolitan France. Sometimes this awakening was explained by patriotism, sometimes by idealism, and sometimes by contingency. Often a family story of honour or shame or revolt was drawn upon to make sense of the impulse to resist. In some cases a deep political commitment to communism shaped direction, but it was a nonconformist kind of communism that embraced the International Brigades in Spain and refused the Nazi-Soviet Pact. An awakening to consciousness was nevertheless not enough. The next steps would be communication, organisation and, not least, agreement on the way forward. Few individuals would be willing to embrace that challenge.
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